1950

Harold Fox v. J. K. Piercey : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

These same parties were before this court in an original proceeding to review the action of the Civil Service Commission of Salt Lake City in setting aside the resignation of plaintiff Harold Fox from the Fire Department of Salt Lake City. The decision of the court in that proceeding is reported in 208 P. 2d. 1123. After that decision was handed down, plaintiff brought the

present action in the District Court of Salt Lake County to set aside and avoid his resignation from the Salt Lake City Fire Department.

On August 6, 1948, plaintiff delivered to defendant J. K. Piercey, Chief of the Salt Lake City Fire Department, his resignation in writing, effective immediately (see Exhibit "A" received in evidence page 40), reading as follows:

"Effective this date I hereby tender my resignation from the Salt Lake City Fire Department."

The Next Day he mailed to Chief Piercey and Salt Lake City a letter purporting to withdraw his resignation, which letter was received August 9, 1948. This letter is Exhibit "B" (page.....), and reads as follows:

"On August 6th I tendered to you my resignation from the Salt Lake City Fire Department.

"This is to inform you that I hereby withdraw my resignation from the Salt Lake City Fire Department and request that you disregard my letter of resignation dated August 6, 1948."

No mention of duress or over reaching in the procurement of the resignation is mentioned in the letter of withdrawal. The resignation is referred to as being a regular resignation, otherwise affective unless withdrawn before acceptance.

In his amended complaint, plaintiff alleges, as the basis for setting this resignation aside as follows:

“That on the 6th day of August, 1948 defendant J. K. Piercey summoned plaintiff into his office and there stated to plaintiff that unless he resigned his position as a fireman first grade in the Salt Lake City Fire Department that he would blast and smear plaintiff in every newspaper in Salt Lake City; said defendant further stated to plaintiff that he would make it so miserable that plaintiff could not secure a job in said city and that if plaintiff did not resign his position said defendant would discharge him and give him more publicity than he had ever wanted in his life.”

In paragraph III of said complaint, plaintiff alleges:

“That the aforementioned threats by defendant J. K. Piercey created in plaintiff great fear for his own economic welfare and the economic welfare of his family, and plaintiff's fear was of such intensity that plaintiff involuntarily and while under the influence of the duress and threat of defendant J. K. Piercey signed a letter of resignation effective immediately, which had been prepared for his signature by said J. K. Piercey and delivered the same to J. K. Piercey.”

Plaintiff's complaint seeks to avoid the resignation because of specific threats made by Chief Piercey to blast plaintiff in every newspaper in Salt Lake City and to make it so miserable for him that he could not secure a job in said City. According to his complaint it was these threats of what Mr. Piercey would do that produced the

fear in plaintiff's mind, that overcame his will and made his act of resigning involuntary, under duress.

However, in its Findings of Fact, the Trial Court specifically found that defendant Piercey did not state to plaintiff that Piercey "would blast and smear plaintiff in every paper in Salt Lake City," nor did he state that he, Piercey, "would make it so plaintiff could not secure a job in Salt Lake City." It will thus be seen that the court finds that the very threats relied upon by plaintiff as the basic elements that produced the fear and duress that caused him to act involuntarily in submitting his resignation in fact were never made.

There is no dispute as to the fact that at about 11:00 A.M. on August 6, 1948, Fox was summoned by Chief Piercey to the latter's office. There were present Chief Piercey, Assistant Chiefs White, Smith, Thompson and Ward and the Plaintiff. Nor is there any substantial dispute as to the reason for Fox being summoned to appear (P. 52-53). He had been placed in jail the night of August 5, 1948, charged with being drunk. He had had an altercation at his home with a neighbor lady, slapping her, and his son had fired a 22-caliber gun in an attempt to stop the fracas. His wife had phoned for the police (P. 67), and he was taken to the jail. Because of this situation Chief Piercey asked him to report at his office. There his past record and the 30 demerits which had been given him previously were discussed with him as well

as the incidents of the night before. In detailing what was said there plaintiff's testimony is in harmony with the allegations of his complaint. He testified (P. 37) that Piercey asked if he was going to resign. He answered, "No, I wasn't going to resign." Piercey then said:

"He told me I had to work somewhere; that I wasn't going to work there no more, and if I didn't resign I was going to be discharged, and I told him I wouldn't resign." "He told me if I didn't resign he was going to blast me and make it miserable for me to find a job. I told him I wouldn't resign."

He persisted in his refusal to resign and was told to be back at 1:30 for his discharge. He came back and was handed a letter of discharge by Assistant Chief Ward at the request of Chief Piercey, after the latter had explained the rules of the Civil Service Commission relating to discharge (P. 38). Fox took the letter of discharge and left the office. After leaving the office Fox changed his mind. He testified:

"Rather than have Chief Piercey carry out his threats, the best thing to do was to resign and save face with the family." (P. 39). So Fox returned and asked if it was too late to resign and if he (Piercey) would retract his stories he was going to put in the newspapers if Fox resigned. Piercey said he would try and have his secretary draw up a resignation (Exhibit "A").

When asked by his counsel what the primary consideration was in signing the resignation, Fox replied (P. 40):

“I didn’t want him (Piercey) to carry out his threats on me.”

Q. “By ‘threats’ what do you mean Mr. Fox?

A. “He said he would blast me and smear me all over the newspapers and if he did, it would be difficult in obtaining employment.”

On cross-examination plaintiff testified that his will to resist was not overcome at the time he left the morning meeting on August 6th (P. 56), even though it was at that meeting that the so called threats were made, according to his testimony. He stated he would fight the case rather than resign. At the afternoon appointment he accepted the letter of discharge and then declared he would resist the discharge. A short time later he returned to the Chief’s office and told the Chief:

“If he wouldn’t put that story in the newspapers that he would resign.” (P. 57)

He further testified that it was fear of what might be published in the newspapers that prompted his resignation (P. 62), although anything defendant Piercey might cause to be published to smear him would be lies (P. 59). About 7 or 8 hours after submitting his resignation (P. 61) he decided to withdraw it. His fear of adverse publicity then was allayed. When asked what was

in his mind that convinced him he need not fear adverse publicity, he stated:

“He, (Piercey) withdrew his discharge and I had a perfect right to withdraw my resignation, which would give me a chance to have my job back.”

Q. “You figured that now, since you had resigned he wouldn’t publish anything, and you could then safely withdraw your resignation, is that what you mean?”

A. “That is right.”

It is apparent from this testimony that plaintiff was not afraid of the consequences of a mere discharge and that it was the threats which he claims Mr. Piercey made of smearing him and making it miserable for him to obtain employment that overpowered his will and made his resignation involuntary. As already pointed out, however, the Trial Court specifically found that the Chief made no such threats and so must have disbelieved all that Mr. Fox testified to on that subject.

Since Mr. Fox’s testimony was found to be unworthy of belief it becomes necessary to examine the testimony of Chief Piercey and the four Assistant Chiefs as to what was said at the morning meeting on August 6th relative to the effect a discharge would have on the matter of adverse publicity and Fox being unable to procure employment.

Chief Piercey testified (P. 69-70) that at the morning meeting he informed plaintiff that it was the decision

of the Board of Chief officers that plaintiff should be discharged; that plaintiff would have to work some place and if he resigned it would not be necessary to present the case to the Civil Service Commission. The procedure prescribed by the Civil Service rules on discharge was reviewed and the Chief stated he would have to specify and give charges upon which a discharge would be based. *The newspapers were never mentioned.* The Chief, and all 4 Assistant Chiefs (Thompson P. 107, Ward P. 124, Smith P. 136, White P. 147) denied that anything was said about blasting plaintiff in the newspapers or making it miserable for him to get a job. The Chief told Fox that if he were discharged the facts would be brought out and would be public property (P. 84). but the Chief himself would not inform anyone as to the reasons for discharge, except the Civil Service Commission. The record would be public and would be kept and persons could come and examine it if they decided to investigate the matter (P. 85-86). If he resigned the record would show he had resigned.

- Q. "In the discharge situation you would tell people he had been discharged for misconduct?"
- A. "No, I wouldn't tell them that unless they came and investigated it."
- Q. "Didn't you tell Mr. Fox that would be revealed to persons inquiring of his employability?"
- A. "No, I didn't. I told him that would be revealed to the Civil Service Commission."

This constitutes the testimony of Chief Piercey.

Assistant Chief Thompson testified (P. 106) that Chief Piercey “mentioned to him (Fox) the thought of resigning in preference to being discharged, because of the thought that being discharged, and if he took it to the Civil Service Commission, it would, of necessity, mean a public hearing, and the charges would be public and there would be a lot of mess about it. It was in a very kind way that it was put (P. 117), in a way of kindness; that the facts of the case would be public and Fox would have to answer to the charge, at a public hearing and we would have to prefer the charges. It would be difficult for him to get employment after discharge.”

Assistant Chief Ward testified (P. 124):

“Fox asked Chief Piercey what would happen if he didn’t resign and the Chief informed him that he would be discharged, and reviewed his rights with the Civil Service Commission if he was discharged. (P. 125-26) The Chief said he would have to prefer charges and if Harold elected to fight them in Civil Service he would have to substantiate his charges and it would be a public hearing, that the Civil Service hearing would be a public hearing. His decision was that he would not resign. (P. 129) He (Piercey) did say that when people would call he would have to say, of necessity, that he (Fox) was discharged; and then of course, maybe they would ask the reason why he was discharged and then he would have to tell them why he was discharged. The record was public property. If he resigned the record would show he resigned.”

Assistant Chief Smith testified, in reply to a question as to what was said concerning the effect of a discharge on plaintiff's ability to get a job in this community (P. 140):

“Harold asked the question, if he didn't resign and he was discharged what the difference would be, and the Chief explained to him that the department records are kept on each man and if he resigns the only information the card would carry is that he had resigned; but if he were discharged, then of course, the card would carry the record he was discharged and why he was discharged.

Q. “And Chief Piercey told him there would be a public hearing, and there would be publicity given to his action, isn't that true?

A. “I don't remember that, no sir. I remember he said if he resigned there would be no publicity attached to it, that is all there would be to it just a resignation.”

Assistant Chief Ward testified:

Piercey told Fox (P. 147-48): “Well, as far as dismissal was concerned that it would be pretty much a matter of public knowledge of what went on, especially if Harold wanted to fight a decision, that there would be a lot of court action. On the other hand, if he would resign, he would be spared all that. He made particular reference to the fact that Harold would have to have work of some kind and as he was seeking a position somewhere else these people would call the Chief's office for a recommendation, or his record on the Fire Department. That with the resignation he would

have a clear case that the Chief would simply tell them he had resigned from the Fire Department. On the other hand, if he was discharged, then he would probably have to answer the questions as to reason for dismissal. In other words, Chief Piercey told Mr. Fox if he resigned, his chances for getting employment were much better than if he were discharged as a result of the things Chief Piercey would have to tell the people when they called regarding Mr. Fox.”

It should be remembered that the alleged threats which plaintiff charges Chief Piercey made, and which, according to plaintiff's own testimony, were the controlling factors in overcoming his will and filling him with fear, were made, according to plaintiff's testimony, at the meeting of 11:00 A.M. Fox was told to come back at 1:30 and receive his discharge. At that time a letter of discharge was handed him and accepted by him. He shook hands with Assistant Chief Ward and White and departed. Sometime later he came back, and, according to his own testimony above referred to, asked if it was too late to resign. As to what was said and done at that time the testimony of Chief Piercey and the 2 Assistant Chiefs is pretty much in harmony with Fox's testimony. Chief Piercey testified (P. 73):

“He (Fox) was invited in and he said, ‘Is it too late to resign?’ I said, ‘No’ then he said that he would like to resign. I asked if he wanted any help, or if he wanted to write his resignation out. It was conveyed to me by Mr Fox that he would like some help. I asked the secretary to come in. They left the office and in a few moments

Fox returned with his letter of resignation. He handed me his resignation. I read the resignation. I tore up the discharge.”

Assistant Chief Ward testified (P. 127) that when Fox came back to the Office after receiving the letter of discharge, he said:

“Have you sent that letter to the Civil Service Commission yet?” The Chief said, ‘No.’ And he said, ‘Is it too late to resign?’ And the Chief said, ‘No.’ And at that time he offered to resign rather than to keep the discharge.”

The secretary assisted him at his request in writing up the letter of resignation. He handed it to Chief Piercey and the latter tore up the letter of discharge.

Assistant Chief White testified (P. 145):

“A short time later he (Fox) came back and wanted to know if it was too late to resign, if the papers had gone down. The Chief told him, ‘No.’ He then asked permission to resign.”

He was asked if he wanted help and upon his saying he would, the secretary was called and the 2 of them went into the outer room. A little later Fox came back with the resignation, which the Chief accepted. Then Fox asked about getting back his bail money at the City jail. The Chief sent White with Fox to the Prosecutor’s office and there Fox was released. Fox there excused himself and said, “Now I have decided to resign, I had better call my Attorney, I better let him know.” And he left Chief White and went to the phone.

The trial court in paragraph II of its Findings of Fact found:

“That at the time of the signing of said letter of resignation plaintiff was frightened and alarmed and under the influence of fear, duress and coercion caused and created by the statements of defendant Piercey concerning the detrimental effect that a discharge would have upon plaintiff’s opportunity for employment and the detrimental publicity that would probably result from such a discharge; that said letter was involuntarily given by plaintiff Fox while under the aforementioned influences and while frightened and in great fear for his own and the economic welfare of his family.”

The Trial Court made the following conclusion of law:

“That the letter of resignation of August 6, 1948, was obtained by duress and coercion from plaintiff and said letter of resignation was involuntarily signed by plaintiff while he was under the influence of coercive statements made by defendant J. K. Piercey, Chief of the Salt Lake City Fire Department.”

STATEMENT OF POINTS

The following are the points upon which appellants intend to rely for a reversal of the judgment of the Trial Court.

I

THE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROVE THE ELEMENTS ALLEGED AND RELIED UPON BY HIM IN HIS COMPLAINT AS CONSTITUTING THE DURESS AND COERCION THAT OVERCAME HIS FREEDOM OF MIND AND ACTION AND PRODUCED THE FEAR THAT RESULTED IN AN INVOLUNTARY RESIGNATION.

II

THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW OF THE TRIAL COURT, RELATING TO DURESS PRACTICED UPON PLAINTIFF BY DEFENDANT PIERCEY, ARE NOT BASED UPON THE FACTORS THAT PLAINTIFF HIMSELF ASSERTED AND RELIED UPON, IN HIS COMPLAINT AND BY HIS EVIDENCE, AS PRODUCING LEGAL DURESS, BUT ARE FACTORS THAT THE COURT ITSELF INJECTED AS AMOUNTING TO LEGAL DURESS, WITHOUT THERE BEING ANY EVIDENCE THAT SUCH FACTORS DID, IN FACT, HAVE SUCH AN INFLUENCE, UPON PLAINTIFF'S MIND, AS TO DESTROY PLAINTIFF'S POWER OF INDEPENDENT VOLUNTARY ACTION IN SUBMITTING HIS RESIGNATION.

III

THE UNCONTRADICTED EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR CONCLUSIONS OF LAW OR THE JUDGMENT.

ARGUMENT

I

THE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROVE THE ELEMENTS ALLEGED AND RELIED UPON BY HIM IN HIS COMPLAINT AS CONSTITUTING THE DURESS AND COERCION THAT OVERCAME HIS FREEDOM OF MIND AND ACTION AND PRODUCED THE FEAR THAT RESULTED IN AN INVOLUNTARY RESIGNATION.

In the statement of facts we quoted the allegations of plaintiff's complaint alleging the elements of duress relied upon by him to set aside his resignation. He alleged that Chief Piercey threatened, unless plaintiff resigned, "to blast and smear plaintiff in every newspaper in Salt Lake City," "and that he would make it so miserable that plaintiff could not secure a job in said City," "that if plaintiff did not resign his position defendant would discharge him and give him more publicity than he ever wanted in his life." He further alleged that these threats created in plaintiff such great fear for the economic welfare of himself and family that he involuntarily signed the letter of resignation while under the influence of the duress and threat of Piercey.

The court specifically found, however, contrary to the allegations of the complaint. It found that Piercey did not threaten to blast and smear plaintiff in every newspaper in Salt Lake City nor did he threaten to make it so plaintiff could not secure a job in Salt Lake City.

There is no evidence anywhere in the record that Piercey threatened to give plaintiff "more publicity than he had ever wanted in his life." It is apparent, therefore, that the plaintiff did not prove a single element relied upon by him as having produced the fear that overcame plaintiff's ability to act as a free agent such as would render his act of resignation involuntary.

With respect to these allegations, all that was proved, or found by the court, was that Piercey told him he would be discharged unless he resigned. And in this regard there is neither allegation nor proof, nor is it found by the court, that being given the alternative of resigning or being discharged had any effect to produce fear in plaintiff's mind. Instead the court found that Piercey "informed plaintiff that a discharge would be accompanied by detrimental publicity and would seriously and detrimentally affect plaintiff's opportunities for obtaining employment in Salt Lake City and vicinity . . . that at the time of signing said letter of resignation plaintiff was frightened and alarmed under the influence of fear, duress, and coercion caused and created by the statements of defendant Piercey concerning the detrimental effect that a discharge would have upon plaintiff's opportunities for employment and the detrimental publicity that would probably result from such a discharge."

In these Findings there is not the slightest implication of any threat by Piercey. Plaintiff would be, and was, as fully aware as Piercey concerning the natural effects that would flow from his being discharged in the

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