1950

## Harold Fox v. J. K. Piercey : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

**STATEMENT OF POINTS**

**I.**

**THE EVIDENCE FULLY SUPPORTS EACH AND  
EVERY ONE OF THE COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT.**

**II.**

**THE LAW APPLICABLE REQUIRES THE CONCLU-  
SIONS OF LAW MADE BY THE COURT.**

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE FULLY SUPPORTS EACH AND EVERY ONE OF THE COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT.

The appellants have stated their version of the facts at great length, quoting in full many parts of the Complaint and Findings and Conclusions. However, the statement does not fully reveal all of the evidence, but only such portions as support appellant's contentions.

It will be noted at the outset that respondent in paragraph II of his Amended Complaint sets forth the basic coercive forces upon which he relied throughout the trial. There were three in number.

(1) That unless plaintiff resigned his position as a fireman first grade J. K. Piercey would blast and smear respondent in every newspaper in Salt Lake City. This the court did not find was substantiated by the evidence, and respondent in his testimony did not testify that that was what Piercey had said to him. Respondent stated that the following occurred (R. 37):

“Q. Then what did he say to you?

“A. He told me I had to work somewhere; that I wasn't going to work there no more, and if I didn't resign I was going to be discharged, and I told him I wouldn't resign.

“Q. Was there any further conversation between you and Chief Piercey there at his office on this morning?

“A. Yes. He told me if I didn’t resign he was going to blast me and make it miserable for me to find a job. I told him I wouldn’t resign.”

(2) That Piercey further told respondent he would make it so miserable respondent could not secure a job in Salt Lake City. Respondent did not testify that Mr. Piercey would make it impossible for him to find a job, but only that it would be difficult for respondent to find employment (R. 40).

“Q. (By Mr. King) Mr. Fox, I will ask you, what was your primary consideration in the signing of this resignation on that occasion, in your mind? What was uppermost in your mind?

“A. I didn’t want him to carry out his threats on me.

“Q. By ‘threats’ what do you mean, Mr. Fox?

“A. He said he would blast me and swear me all over the newspapers; and if he did, it would be difficult in obtaining employment.

“Q. Did you have any intention at that time, Mr. Fox, of resigning your position with the Fire Department voluntarily?

“A. I did not.”

(3) That if respondent did not resign his position Piercey would discharge him and give him more publicity than he ever wanted in his life. There is no dispute

on the threat of discharge. Concerning the publicity respondent stated as follows (R. 39) :

“A. Rather than have Chief Piercey carry out his threats, the best thing to do was resign, and save face with the family.

“Q. What did you do, Mr. Fox?

“A. I went back and asked him if it was too late to resign.

“Q. Did you have any other conversation with him when you went back?

“A. I asked him, if I resigned if he would retract his stories he was going to put in the newspapers.

“Q. What did he say?

“A. He says it was too late. He said, if it wasn't too late, he would try.”

The court in its Findings of Fact found specifically in Finding No. 1 that Piercey told respondent unless he resigned he would be discharged and the discharge would be accompanied by detrimental publicity and would seriously and detrimentally affect respondent's opportunity for obtaining employment in Salt Lake City and vicinity (R. 24). The court further found that the threat by Piercey to respondent alarmed and frightened him and while he was under the influence of fear, duress and coercion caused and created by the statements of Piercey concerning the detrimental effect that a discharge would have upon the respondent's opportunity for employment and the detrimental publicity

that would probably result from such discharge, acted involuntarily and signed the letter of resignation involved in this action (R. 25).

Respondent's testimony standing alone would be ample support for all of the Findings of Fact made by the Court. But his evidence does not stand alone. It is bolstered and corroborated by all of the testimony of the witnesses for appellants. Piercey and every one of the Assistant Chiefs agreed that prior to his resignation Chief Piercey told the plaintiff that it would be better for him to resign than to be discharged. Of course, there is a variance in the testimony concerning just exactly what Piercey said. Most of the Assistant Chiefs denied that Piercey mentioned newspaper publicity, but it would seem that this omission was an oversight on the part of Piercey for he certainly had newspaper publicity in mind when respondent was before him and his Assistant Chiefs. He had already been contacted by the papers concerning a statement on respondent and had released the following information to them (Exhibit "D"):

#### "PIERCEY OUSTS S. L. FIREMAN

"A Salt Lake fireman was discharged Friday by Fire Chief J. K. Piercey following his arrest Thursday night on a drunkenness charge.

"Discharged was Harold Fox, 37, 227 N. 6th West. He was arrested at his home Thursday at 11:10 p.m. by police officers. He pleaded innocent to a drunkenness charge Friday before Police Judge Frank E. Moss, who set trial for Aug. 26.



“Chief Piercey, in a letter Friday to Public Safety Commissioner L. C. Romney and the board of city commissioners, said he had discharged Fox and recommended the commission concur in in his action.

“While the letter was being submitted to the city commission, Fox voluntarily submitted his resignation to Chief Piercey, who said it would be accepted.

“The chief said he talked to Fox in city jail Thursday night and Fox admitted drinking and striking a woman neighbor. Chief Piercey added Fox had been warned and disciplined previously for similar conduct.”

Assistant Chief White is the only one of the witnesses for appellants who admitted that newspaper publicity was discussed with respondent (R. 146):

“A. The Chief did mention the newspapers had called him, that they had the information about the evening before and they knew—he had told them Mr. Fox had been discharged. I believe Mr. Fox asked him if it could be stopped, if the newspapers couldn’t be called and the story stopped. I know the Chief made a call to the newspapers and attempted to stop the story at that time.”

At the trial Assistant Chief White did not recall any discussion of adverse publicity between respondent and Piercey until respondent’s counsel quoted to him part of the record on the Civil Service Commission hear-

ing. The following questions and answers appear (R. 147-149):

“Q. Mr. White, on the hearing before the Civil Service Commission, you stated, did you not, that Chief Piercey did tell Mr. Fox that he would have some troubles, though, if he didn't resign, getting other employment, and those troubles would stem from the Fire Department?

“A. That was his advice to Mr. Fox, that it would be harder for him if on the record of the Department was the fact he had been discharged. If people called, it would look much better if there was just the resignation present.

“Q. In answer to that question did you make the following answer, concerning what Chief Piercey had told Mr. Fox:

‘Well, as far as dismissal was concerned, that it would be pretty much a matter of public knowledge of what went on, especially if Harold wanted to fight a discharge, that there would be a lot of court action. On the other hand, if he would resign, he would be spared all that.

‘He made particular reference to the fact that Harold would have to have work of some kind, and as he was seeking a position somewhere else, these people would call the Chief's office for a recommendation, or his record on the Fire Department, that with the resignation he would have a clearer case—that the Chief would simply tell him then he had resigned from the Fire Department.

‘On the other hand, if he was discharged, then he would probably have to answer the questions as to reason for dismissal.’

“Do you remember the Chief telling Mr. Fox that, Chief White?

“A. Yes, I think that is right.

“Q. In other words, the thing the Chief was impressing upon Mr. Fox was, was it not, if he resigned he would have a good chance of getting employment in Salt Lake City, and if he was discharged, he would not?

“A. Well, he didn’t say he would not.

“Q. He gave him that impression, didn’t he, Chief White?

“MR. HOLGREN: I object to that as calling for a conclusion.

“THE COURT: Objection sustained.

“Q. (By Mr. King) In answer to the following question didn’t you make the following answer, before the Civil Service Commission, on this matter:

‘In other words, Chief Piercey told Mr. Fox if he resigned, his chances for getting employment were much better than if he were discharged as a result of the things Chief Piercey would have to tell people, when they called, regarding Mr. Fox?’

“Didn’t you answer that question:

‘Yes, that is right.’

“A. I did, yes.”

At many other places in the testimony of the Assistant Chiefs, respondent's story is corroborated and confirmed even though it appears throughout their testimony that they were avoiding assiduously any inference that Piercey was using every coercive force which he possessed to obtain a resignation from respondent.

The withdrawal of respondent's resignation occurred within two days of the time that it was given and no harm could possibly have been done to the Fire Department or Salt Lake City by the issuance of a discharge when the resignation was withdrawn, yet Piercey has steadfastly refused to discharge respondent. The only explanation for such a refusal is that admittedly there is no cause for discharge. Since there was no lawful grounds for discharge the threat of discharge by Piercey was wrongful and unlawful.

Respondent's record as a fireman was clear of any violation of his duties. The only criticism of respondent's conduct concerned the family difficulties with which he was afflicted. No one has ever intimated that those personal problems in any way affected respondent's proficiency as a fireman.

This court has held that the fact that a fireman does not live his private personal life in accordance with the view of his superiors is not grounds for discharge or cause for removal. *Thompson v. Civil Service Commission*, 103 Utah 162, 134 P. 2d 188. In the *Thompson* case the Fire Chief was admittedly guilty of a positive violation of law (driving on the wrong side of the street

while drunk). Here respondent was found not guilty of being drunk in his own home.

The law under the modern view of duress and coercion is to the effect that the threat need not be such as would put a brave man or even a man of ordinary firmness in fear. The question for the court to decide is subjective, i.e., did the statements and threats put respondent in fear and preclude him from exercising his free will and judgment? In deciding that question the court should consider the relation of the parties and the attendant circumstances.

His Honor, of course, realized that respondent was an inferior subordinate, with very little prestige or standing in the Fire Department or general community, while Piercey was the Chief of the department and an influential citizen in the community with access to all of the newspapers in Salt Lake City, and with a great many other means of carrying out his will and desires. This feeling on the part of respondent came before the court from the following questions and answers (R. 65):

“Q. Mr. Fox, was there anything other—I think you answered a question of Mr. Holmgren’s about publishing in the newspaper. Was there any other part of what Chief Piercey said to you that you were thinking about when you went back and decided to resign, other than the publishing in the newspaper?”

- “A. I knew that him being as influential as he was, that he could have a great bearing on me finding employment.
- “Q. Had he said anything about that to you in the morning meeting?
- “A. He told me he was going to blast me and smear me in every newspaper in Salt Lake City.”

A great deal of testimony dealt with an incident which occurred on January 30th, 1946, and primarily concerned a letter which respondent signed and which is marked Exhibit “1”. The testimony concerning that letter, while immaterial on the main question here, illustrates the practice of the Fire Department and of the Assistant Chiefs in obtaining compliance from inferior officers with the Chief’s and Assistant Chiefs’ wishes. In the letter the Assistant Chiefs required respondent to sign there is a statement that no duress or coercion was used against respondent to obtain his signature yet, everyone that testified admitted that they threatened respondent with immediate discharge unless he signed the letter as written.

A worthwhile civil service system requires that the civil servant be free from coercive pressure from his superior officers. The provisions for discharge give ample protection to the City and the Chief of the Fire Department. If the gate is left open for the use of coercive measures by the superior officers every salutary purpose of the Civil Service system can be completely circumscribed.



This court should not deal with this question as one of niceties. The primary purpose of all public authority, including this court, should be to completely eliminate any possibility of the use of coercion and duress by the Chief of the Fire Department on inferior officers to obtain their resignations.

Resignations should be entirely voluntary or they should not be allowed to stand. Every witness that was present at the discussion between respondent and Piercey states that respondent told Piercey he did not wish to resign and would not resign. It was only after his free will had been overcome by fear and the coercive forces brought to bear by Chief Piercey that respondent signed the letter of resignation prepared by Chief Piercey's secretary. Since all agree that respondent signed the letter of resignation against his express wishes and desires, the only question that can remain is, were the threats and coercive forces brought to bear by Piercey sufficient as matter of law to coerce and make involuntary the resignation of respondent from the Fire Department?

The modern view of the law which will be discussed under Point II of this brief is that the measure of the legal sufficiency of the threat or coercive influence is not an objective standard such as a brave man or a man of ordinary firmness, but is a subjective standard measured by the influence that the threats and coercive forces have on the particular person from whom action was being exacted.

## POINT II.

THE LAW APPLICABLE REQUIRES THE CONCLUSIONS OF LAW MADE BY THE COURT.

The *American Law Institute, Restatement of the Law of Contracts*, sets forth a modern definition of duress under *Section 492 of Vol. 2*. The definition reads as follows:

“Duress in the Restatement of this subject means

- “(a) any wrongful act of one person that compels a manifestation of apparent assent by another to a transaction without his volition, or
- “(b) any wrongful threat of one person by words or other conduct that induces another to enter into a transaction under the influence of such fear as precludes him from exercising free will and judgment, if the threat was intended or should reasonably have been expected to operate as an inducement.”

Anciently the law was that the duress and coercive force had to be of such a nature as would make a brave or courageous man submit. That rule was modified until it required only that the coercion be such as would cause a person of ordinary firmness to submit. The present American decisions have abandoned both the brave and courageous man and ordinary firmness man standards and make the measure of the legal sufficiency of the duress a subjective standard. It is only necessary that the coercive forces be sufficient to overcome the will of



the person being subjected to such forces. The courts observe that the weaker and more cowardly persons are in greater need of protection than the brave, courageous and strong individuals who are able to withstand the force of coercive pressure. The reasoning behind the modern rule has been set down succinctly in the case of *Ogle v. Freeman et al.*, 150 Kan. 864, 96 P. 2d 670, 674:

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